IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA STATE OF FLORIDA

GREEN CLINIC, INC., f/k/a			
GREEN CLINIC, P. A., a Florida			
Corporation; J. C. STINE, M. D.;			
JOHN W. MOORE, M. D.; FRANK			
J. THORNTON, M. D.; MICHAEL G.	v.	MANUEL D. JAIN, M. D.	
DEGNAN, M. D.; GUILLERMO F.			
ALLENDE, M. D.; and DAVID J.			
GREEN, M. D.			
Defendants / Petitioners,		Plaintiff /	
Respondent.			
PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS			

SUPREME COURT CASE NO.: SC02-2595 SECOND DISTRICT COURT CASE NO.: 2D01-1913 CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO.: GCG-97-2493 (POLK COUNTY)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED BY USURPING THE
TRIAL COURT'S DISCRETIONARY AUTHORITY AND
CREATING NEW AND CONFLICTING CASE LAW 12
Determination of Good Cause is a Discretionary Decision That Should Not Be
Disturbed By An Appellate Court Unless the Decision Is
Arbitrary, Fanciful, or Unreasonable 12
The Second DistRict Court of Appeal's Opinion Holding That An Attorney's
Secretary's Voicemail Message Left With Opposing

Counsel's Secretary Establishes Good Cause to Preclude
Dismissal Is In Direct Conflict With All District Courts of
<u>Appeal.</u>
The Search Efforts by CJAIN's Attorneys To Locate A Witness Did Not Establish
Good Cause To Avoid Dismissal
Implication of Unprofessional Conduct Was Improperly Found As Good Cause.
<u>CONCLUSION</u> <u>2</u>
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 28
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH FONT REQUIREMENT 29

PREFACE

This Appeal arises out of a Second District Court of Appeal Order reversing the Tenth Judicial Circuit, where the Trial Judge entered a Final Order dismissing without prejudice the above-styled action on the Defendants / Petitioners' Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute. In this Initial Brief on the Merits, Defendants / Petitioners, J. C. Stine, M.D., John W. Moore, M.D., Frank J. Thornton, M.D., Michael G. Degnan, M.D., and Guillermo F. Allende, will be referred to as the "Doctors", "Defendant(s)", and their individual surnames. Plaintiff / Respondent will be referred to as the "Plaintiff," "Dr. Jain" and "Jain". Co-Defendant, Green Clinic, Inc. f/k/a Green Clinic, P.A. will be referred to as "co-Defendant," and the "Green Clinic, Inc." Co-Defendant, David J. Green, M.D., will be referred to as "co-Defendant," "Dr. Green," and "Green".

The record consists of 13 volumes, including a transcript of the hearing where the Trial Court dismissed the above-styled action. The Record on Appeal is cited with the designation "R. at ___ : ___"; representing the record volume number, and record page number(s); Appellant's Initial Brief to the Court of Appeal is cited with the designation "Jain App. Brief, p. ___."

TABLE OF CITATIONS

Cases

107 Group, Inc. v. Gulf Coast Paving & Grading, Inc., 459 So. 2d 466 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) 13, 18, 22

American Eastern Corporation v. Henry Blanton, Inc., 382 So. 2d 863 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980) 13, 23

Blythe v. James Lock & Company Limited, 780 So. 2d 237 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001), rev. denied, 796 So. 2d 535 (2001) 12

Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 1980) 14, 15, 16

Chandler v. Florida Farm Bureau Mutual Ins., 546 So. 2d 1179 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), rev. dismissed, 553 So. 2d 1165 (Fla. 1989) 13

Daurelle v. Beech Aircraft Corporation, 341 So.2d 204 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977), cert. denied 354 So. 2d 980 (Fla. 1977)

Duggar v. Quality Development Corp., 350 So. 2d 816 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977) 17, 20, 21

Edgecumbe v. American General Corporation, 613 So. 2d 123 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) 13, 17, 19

Eisen v. Fink, 511 So. 2d 1092 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987) 17, 20

F.M.C. Corporation v. Chatman, 368 So. 2d 1307 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979),

cert. denied, 379 So. 2d 203 (Fla. 1979) 13, 18, 21, 22

Heinz v. Watson, 615 So. 2d 750 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993), rev. denied, 624 So. 2d 266 (Fla. 1993) 17, 19, 20, 23 Jain v. Green Clinic, Inc., 830 So. 2d. 836 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002) 1, 8, 30

Magers v. Walker's Cay Air Terminal, Inc., 451 So. 2d 867 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) 3

Metropolitan Dade County v. Hall, 784 So. 2d 1087 (Fla. 2001) 14, 23, 24, 25

Norflor Constr. Corp. v. City of Gainesville, 512 So.2d 266 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) rev. denied, 520 So.2d 585 (Fla. 1988)

Shanley v. Allen, 346 So. 2d 548 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976) 26

Spikes v. Neal, 792 So. 2d 571 (Fla. 1st DCA), *rehearing denied,* (2001) 14, 17, 18

Tompkins v. First Union National Bank, 833 So. 2d 199 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002) 24, 31

Tosar v. Sladek, 393 So. 2d 61 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981) 13

Weaver v. The Center Business, 578 So. 2d 427 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) 13, 19, 27, 28

Weitzel v. Hargrove,

543 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989) 17, 21

Rules

Rule 9.210(a)(2), Fla. R. App. P 29

Rule 1.420(e), Fla. R. Civ. P. passim

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

A. The Case.

On April 29, 2003, this Court dispensed with oral argument and accepted jurisdiction to review on the merits the Second District Court of Appeal's ("Second DCA") Opinion dated April 19, 2002. The Second DCA's Opinion reversed and reinstated MANUEL G. JAIN, M.D.'s ("JAIN") action, which was previously dismissed without prejudice by the Trial Court pursuant to Rule 1.420(e), Fla. R. Civ. P. *Jain v. Green Clinic, Inc.*, 830 So. 2d. 836 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002).

This Court's discretionary jurisdiction was invoked by Defendants/Petitioners, J.C. STINE, M.D.; JOHN W. MOORE, M.D.; FRANK J. THORNTON, M.D.; MICHAEL G. DEGNAN, M.D.; and GUILLERMO F. ALLENDE, M.D. (the "Doctors"), after their Motions for Rehearing, Rehearing *en banc*, Clarification, or Certification had been denied by the Court of Appeal.

B. The Facts.

JAIN initiated suit against the Doctors, GREEN CLINIC, INC. f/k/a GREEN CLINIC, P.A. (hereinafter "Green Clinic, Inc."), and DAVID J. GREEN, M.D. on September 18, 1997. (R. at 12: 2048-49.) As alleged in JAIN's Amended Complaint, in 1995, JAIN and all Defendant physicians were medical doctors licensed to practice medicine as shareholders and directors through the medical clinic, Green Clinic, Inc. (R. at 1: 2.) Approximately from July, 1994 through December, 1995, Robert LePage (hereinafter "LePage") was employed by the Green Clinic, Inc. as the office administrator. (R. at 9: 1722.) LePage was also administrator of Medical Offices, Inc., which was a separate corporation in which all the doctors belonged, found to hold the building in which they practiced. (R. at 9: 1730-1.) In 1995, JAIN alleged that the Defendant physicians chose to sell the Green Clinic, Inc. to a company that owns and operates the Heart of Florida Hospital in Polk County, Florida, against the wishes of JAIN and in violation of an employment agreement. (R. at 1: 4.) Thereafter, in 1997, JAIN filed a four count complaint against the Green Clinic, Inc. and the Doctors alleging actions for (a) breach of an employment agreement; (b) recovery of the fair value of JAIN's shares; (c) declaratory judgment and injunctive relief; and (d) breach of fiduciary duty. (R. at 1: 1-40.)

The record activities occurring after the Complaint was filed and prior to January 5, 2000 are not relevant to the issues on appeal. From January 6, 2000 through and including January 8, 2001, there was no record activity filed with the clerk of the court or listed in the subsequent appellate record.\(^1\) On January 8, 2001, the Green Clinic, Inc. served its Motion to Dismiss for failure to Prosecute, because the case had laid dormant for over one year without any valid record activity. (R. at 3: 518-519.) The next day, on January 9, 2001, the Motion was received and filed in the Clerk's office. (Id.) Two days after the Clerk filed Green Clinic, Inc.'s Motion, on January 11, 2001, JAIN noticed LePage for a deposition. (R. at 3: 524-525.) Following, on January 17, 2001, Doctors filed their Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute. (R. at 3: 522-523.) The governing law holds that the Doctors' Motion related back in time to Green Clinic, Inc.'s Motion filed on January 9, 2001.\(^2\)

On February 9, 2001, JAIN filed a Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute. (R. at 8: 1663-1714.) The fifty-one page

¹ Both the Trial Court and Second DCA held that a companion case's Notice of Hearing inadvertently filed in this case was a legal nullity and did not constitute "record activity" to preclude dismissal.

² See, Magers v. Walker's Cay Air Terminal, Inc., 451 So. 2d 867, 868 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

memorandum included: (a) a copy of the record of the court; (b) and affidavits from JAIN's lead counsel, Stephen D. Milbrath, Esq. ("Milbrath") and associate attorney, Trevor Arnold, Esq. ("Arnold"). (Id.) The memorandum and affidavits alleged that in October, 1999, Milbrath identified Mr. LePage as a witness who may have knowledge concerning the case. (R. at 1706 and Jain App. Brief, p. 38.) Ten months later, in late October, 2000, Arnold allegedly began searching for LePage's address and phone number. (R. at 8: 1712.) The associate attorney's "time-consuming and difficult" search was limited to internet phone directories, and State of Florida corporate officer listings and professional license databases, county property ownership records, district and county court records, and the Florida drivers' license database presumably, all of which can be searched using the internet. (Id.) Milbrath's affidavit, he alleged that dismissal for failure to prosecute was inappropriate because his activities during the preceding year included "reviewing deposition testimony, meeting with an expert, evaluating the merits of a Motion for Summary Judgment, directing the location of LePage, and finally locating LePage on January 8, 2001." (R. at 8: 1708.)

On January 8, 2001, the same day Green Clinic, Inc. served its Motion to Dismiss, Arnold allegedly located LePage and called him. (R. at 3: 518-19 and 8: During the brief telephone conference, Arnold asked LePage if he was 1712.) available to "come down and give a voluntary statement." (R. at 9: 1722-24.) Wary of Arnold's request, LePage told Arnold that he would like to speak with the Doctors about the case before giving him a voluntary statement. (Id.) During that telephone conversation, Arnold did not inform LePage that he wanted to take his deposition, nor did Arnold inquire about or obtain potential convenient deposition dates from LePage. (Id.) Immediately thereafter, LePage contacted Dr. Stine, who told LePage to speak with his attorney, Jonathan Trohn, Esq. about giving the opposing counsel a voluntary statement. (R. at 9: 1723-26.) LePage called Trohn on either January 8 or 9, 2001. (R. at 9: 1724-25.) During their conversation, Trohn told LePage not to give a voluntary statement, but rather let JAIN's attorneys subpoena him for a deposition. (Id.) In sum, JAIN's attorney's non-record activity on January 8, 2001, was limited to the brief telephone conference with LePage.

The next day, on January 9, 2001, the same day Green Clinic, Inc.'s Motion to Dismiss was filed with the clerk, (R. at 3: 518-519), Milbrath's secretary, Mary Leavy,

left a voicemail message with opposing counsel's secretary indicating an intention to schedule LePage for a deposition. (R. at 8: 1707-8, 1712.) Other than this telephone voicemail message, JAIN's attorneys did not perform any other non-record activity on January 9, 2001.

In summary, prior to the filing of Defendants' Motion to Dismiss, the only activities of any kind related to LePage were as follows:

October, 1999 -- Milbrath completes the depositions of all principal witnesses and determines that he would like to interview LePage before taking his deposition.

(R. at 8: 1706.)

October, 2000 -- Milbrath's associate begins looking for LePage's address and phone number. (R. at 8: 1712-14.)

January 8, 2001 -- Green Clinic, Inc.'s counsel serves its Motion to

Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute (R. at 3: 518-519 and 13: 83.)

-- Milbrath's associate locates and telephones

LePage. (R. at 8: 1712 and 8: 1722-25.)

January 8 or 9, 2001 -- LePage telephones Dr. Stine, then Mr. Trohn about

giving JAIN's attorneys a voluntary statement. (R. at 9: 1723-26.)

January 9, 2001 -- Polk County Clerk files Green Clinic, Inc.'s Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute. (R. at 3: 518-519.)

-- Milbrath's secretary leaves a telephone voicemail message with opposing counsel's secretary seeking potential dates to depose LePage. (R. at 8: 1707 and 8: 1712-13.)

January 17, 2001-- Doctors file their Motion to Dismiss. (R. at 3: 522-23.)

Importantly, there is no evidence that any of JAIN's attorneys ever contacted any of the Defendants' attorneys during the relevant one year period.

On March 26, 2001, a hearing was held on Defendants' collective Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute. (R. at 3: 531-535.) During the hearing, JAIN argued that good cause to avoid dismissal was shown by (1) Arnold's telephone conference with LePage on January 8, 2001, (2) Milbrath's secretary's voicemail message with Doctor's secretary about scheduling LePage's deposition on January 9, 2001, and (3)

JAIN's attorneys' efforts to locate LePage. (R. at 13: 48-92.) After carefully listening to counsels' arguments, reviewing the record, affidavits, and other pertinent evidence, the Trial Court held that JAIN's non-record activities did not establish good cause to preclude dismissal under Rule 1.420(e). (R. at 11: 2045-2046.) The Trial Judge received evidence that (1) no contact was made with Mr. Trohn personally to schedule LePage's deposition, or discuss any matter or issue in the case (R. at 8: 1705-1714); (2) that JAIN's attempt to contact Mr. Trohn was limited to Milbrath's secretary's voicemail message indicating an intention to schedule the deposition of a witness (Id.); (3) that the voicemail message was left with opposing counsel's secretary, not Mr. Trohn personally, on the day the Motion to Dismiss was received and filed by the Polk County Clerk (Id.); (4) that no discovery efforts were utilized by JAIN's attorneys to locate LePage (R. at 13: 75-6); (5) that no contact was made by telephone or correspondence prior to January 9, 2001, alerting opposing counsel of their difficulties in locating LePage or interest in deposing him (R. at 8: 1705-1714); (6) that JAIN's search efforts to locate LePage were focused in Polk County, when earlier deposition testimony showed he lived in Orlando (R. at 8: 1712 and 13: 73); (7) that LePage was ultimately "found" by Arnold when he called LePage at home (Id.); (8) that LePage

was in the phone book during most, if not all, of the time that Arnold searched for him (R. at 9: 1801-03); (9) that LePage had lived at the same address in Orlando since 1998 (Id.); (10) that LePage personally bumped into Dr. Jain at a local hospital and gave the doctor his business card (R. at 9: 1797-99); and (11) that Dr. Jain was receiving mail from LePage with LePage's return home address listed on the envelope. (R. at 9: 1731-32, 1797-1800). Utilizing his discretionary authority, the Trial Judge found no compelling evidence which established good cause and dismissed the entire case without prejudice for a lack of prosecution.

On April 20, 2001, JAIN filed an appeal arguing that the Trial Court applied an incorrect legal standard and abused its discretion. (Jain App. Brief, pp. 31-36.) Following the submittal of briefs and oral argument, the Second DCA entered an Opinion reversing and remanding the Trial Court's decision, and holding that the Trial Judge had abused his discretion. (*Jain*, 830 So. 2d at 836.) While the Second DCA conceded that JAIN had performed no record activity during the relevant twelve month period, (*Jain* at 838), the Appellate Court held that JAIN's attorneys' non-record activities, established good cause to reinstate JAIN's suit. (Id.) The Second DCA ruled,

Under the particular facts of this case, we conclude that Dr. Jain's attorney established good cause for the delay in prosecution. Once Dr. Jain located the administrator, he could have noticed his deposition immediately, and that record activity would have occurred within the one-year period and would have precluded dismissal. Furthermore, if the deposition had been taken without placing notice in the file, that act would have constituted good faith activity designed to advance the pending matter to resolution and also would have avoided dismissal. (citations omitted.) Only because Dr. Jain's lawyer courteously contacted opposing counsel did the time continue to run. (Id. at 838.)

After the Second DCA denied the Doctors' timely Motion for Rehearing, Rehearing *en banc*, Clarification, or Certification, the Doctors invoked the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court to review on the merits the Second DCA's Opinion reinstating JAIN's suit.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issues in this case include whether or not a secretary's voicemail message left with another secretary on the day a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Prosecution was filed can be considered "good cause" to avoid dismissal under the Rule. A wealth of case law over the years has established that such informal contact does not satisfy the high burden of a plaintiff to avoid dismissal. Secondly, a critical issue is whether a trial judge is entitled to deference by the reviewing Appellate Court for his finding of fact on what constitutes "good cause." Here, the trial judge reviewed the evidence describing the efforts made by counsel, and was fully justified in concluding that good cause was not demonstrated. The Second District Court of Appeal substituted its own findings of good cause when it ruled the trial judge abused his discretion. The Second District Court of Appeal's ruling conflicts with every other Appellate Court in this State, and even conflicts with earlier pronouncements from the Second District Court of Appeal as well. Its decision was founded, at least in part, on a perceived lack of courtesy which somehow victimized Respondent. There was absolutely no evidence for the Appellate Court to make that finding of fact, and this tortured reasoning must be corrected here. If the Second District's decision is

allowed to stand, good cause will be found in the future anytime a secretary leaves a message with another secretary about scheduling a deposition, regardless of whether the message is received, and regardless of whether the message was ever transmitted to counsel. This would completely remove any practical application from the rule.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED BY USURPING THE TRIAL COURT'S DISCRETIONARY AUTHORITY AND CREATING NEW AND CONFLICTING CASE LAW.
 - A. Determination of Good Cause is a Discretionary Decision That

 Should Not Be Disturbed By An Appellate Court Unless the

 Decision Is Arbitrary, Fanciful, or Unreasonable.

The Second DCA erred by usurping the role of the Trial Judge and substituting its finding of good cause in place of the Trial Judge's findings. What constitutes "good cause" to preclude dismissal pursuant to Rule 1.420(e), Fla. R. Civ. P., is not defined in the Rule itself, but rather by case law. *Blythe v. James Lock & Company Limited*, 780 So. 2d 237, 238 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001), *rev. denied*, 796 So. 2d 535 (2001). Good cause has repeatedly been defined as (1) contact with the opposing party, and (2) some form of excusable conduct arising other than through negligence or inattention to deadlines. *F.M.C. Corporation v. Chatman*, 368 So. 2d 1307, 1308 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979), *cert. denied*, 379 So. 2d 203 (Fla. 1979) (Emphasis added.)³

³ (cited approvingly by all Florida Courts of Appeal; 107 Group, Inc. v. Gulf Coast Paving & Grading, Inc., 459 So. 2d 466, 467 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); American Eastern Corp. v. Henry Blanton, Inc., 382 So. 2d 863, 865 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980); Tosar v. Sladek, 393 So. 2d 61, 62 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981); Chandler v. Florida Farm Bureau Mutual Ins., 546 So. 2d 1179, 1180 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), rev. dismissed, 553 So. 2d 1165 (Fla. 1989); and Weaver

Whether or not the plaintiff has satisfied his "high" burden by identifying some compelling reason to establish good cause and avoid dismissal is a discretionary decision best determined by the trial court. *Edgecumbe v. American General Corporation*, 613 So. 2d 123, 124 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); and *American Eastern Corporation v. Henry Blanton, Inc.*, 382 So. 2d 863 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980). Since the Trial Judge's good cause determination was discretionary, the standard of review for the dismissal of JAIN's action is an abuse of discretion standard. *Metropolitan Dade County v. Hall*, 784 So. 2d 1087, 1090 (Fla. 2001) n.4; *see also Spikes v. Neal*, 792 So. 2d 571, 573 (Fla. 1st DCA), *rehearing denied*, (2001).

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