IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA STATE OF FLORIDA

GREEN CLINIC, INC., f/k/a
GREEN CLINIC, P.A., a Florida
corporation; J. C. STINE, M.D.;
JOHN W. MOORE, M.D.; FRANK
J. THORNTON, M.D.; MICHAEL G.
DEGNAN, M.D.; GUILLERMO F.
ALLENDE, M.D.; and DAVID J.
GREEN, M.D.

v. MANUEL D. JAIN, M.D.

Defendants / Petitioners,

Plaintiff / Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SUPREME COURT CASE NO.: SC02-2595 SECOND DISTRICT CASE NO.: 2D01-1913 CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO.: GCG-97-2493 (POLK COUNTY)

Stephen D. Milbrath
Florida Bar No. 239194
Allen, Dyer, Doppelt,
Milbrath & Gilchrist, P.A.
255 South Orange Ave. Suite 1401
P.O. Box 3791
Orlando, Florida 32802-3791
Telephone (407) 841-2330

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

will prove that the supposed conflict between Jain and F.M.C. is a figment of Petitioners' imagination.

The *F.M.C.* Court did view as a necessary component of a good cause showing proof of contact between the opposing lawyers in the case. In *F.M.C.*, such proof of contact was deemed lacking in the plaintiff's affidavit, and thus fatal to the plaintiff's case. *F.M.C.*, 1308. Yet contact between counsel did occur in Jain, as the Second District observed: "Only because Dr. Jain's lawyer courteously contacted opposing counsel did the time continue to run. Here, to avoid the possibility that an arbitrarily chosen deposition date would later be determined to violate the discovery rules, Dr. Jain's lawyer contacted opposing counsel in advance." Panel Op., 838. The "express and direct" conflict between the two opinions posited by Petitioners does not exist.

The same may be said for *Duggar v. Quality Dev. Corp.*, 350 So. 2d 816 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977), also offered by Petitioners as evidence of the claimed conflict. The good cause showing in that case was limited to this: "Quality attempted to contact counsel ... by mail and telephone from time to time ... to ascertain ... the time necessary to set the case for trial". *Id.* at 817. The Second District held that calling "from time to time" to secure an estimate of the time required to try the case was not calculated to "hasten the action to judgment". *Id.* Dr. Jain's case is far from this

factual scenario. The calls in Jain were placed to set the deposition of a necessary witness and preceded the actual deposition notice only, in the words of the Second District, to "avoid the possibility that an arbitrarily chosen deposition date would later be determined to violate the discovery rules". Panel Op., 838.

In 107 Group, Inc. v. Gulf Coast Paving & Grading, Inc., 459 So. 2d 466, 467 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), the good cause showing consisted only of "interviewing witnesses and contacting potential expert witnesses". In Eisen v. Fink, 511 So. 2d 1092, 1093-94 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987), the good cause offered was limited to (a) the assertion that defense counsel had represented that at some unspecified point in the future the defendant would depose the plaintiff, and (b) delays occasioned by the defendant's failure to respond to discovery and by settlement discussions. In Weitzel v. Hargrove, 542 So. 2d 392, 393 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989), the sole showing of good cause was that the lawyers had been in contact with one another during the critical period and "agreed to cancel a previously noticed hearing on the defendant's motion to strike certain allegations in the complaint". None of these cases have any application to Second District's opinion here. Dr. Jain acted to hasten the case to judgment by setting in motion the scheduling of a critical deposition, which was thereafter taken; in the cited cases no such affirmative steps were undertaken.

Petitioners also rely upon *Heinz v. Watson*, 615 So. 2d 750 (Fla. 5th DCA), rev. denied, 624 So. 2d 266 (Fla. 1993) for proof of the alleged "direct and express" conflict. But that case dealt almost exclusively with the record activity prong of Rule 1.420(e), rather than good cause. Petitioners would nevertheless have the Court believe that Heinz is relevant precedent because there were "phone calls to a necessary witness ... and ... plaintiff's counsel made contact with opposing counsel, to determine a convenient date to depose the witness." Brief, 17. This is a misrepresentation of the Heinz opinion. The opinion does quote from a passage of the hearing transcript in which the plaintiff's lawyer mentions conversations with opposing counsel about deposing the "ex-wife" as well as his calls to the witness to arrange her appearance, 615 So. 2d at 751-52, but the Court never even addressed the merits of this contention. For plaintiff's lawyer made no attempt to show good cause in writing prior to the hearing. The Court held that plaintiff's "failure to show good cause before the hearing in compliance with rule 1.420(e) warrants a dismissal of the action". Accordingly, *Heinz* offers no precedent relevant to the issues in this case.

Apparently untroubled by this fact, however, Petitioners go on to state: "... the appellate court held 'the attorney's action in this instance may properly be characterized as the manifestation of an intention to act but not actual record action". Brief, 17. In their rush to manipulate this passage of the *Heinz* opinion to fit Jain,

Petitioners fail to disclose that the court's remark dealt solely with plaintiff's neglect to set a hearing on the motion on which plaintiff relied as proof of record activity – an oversight that condemned plaintiff's filing of the motion as passive and thus irrelevant to the creation of record activity. *Id.* at 752. Once again, Petitioners have misused *Heinz* as precedent. The passage quoted has nothing to do with good cause and no pertinence to Dr. Jain's case. The claimed conflict between the Second District's opinion in Jain and *Heinz* is entirely contrived.

This brings us to the last two "conflict" cases cited by Petitioners: *Spikes v. Neal*, 792 So. 2d 571 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001) and *Edgecumbe v. American General Corp.*, 613 So. 2d 123 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). Both cases address what Petitioners contend were mere "attempts" to set depositions. Neither opinion is in conflict with the Second District's opinion in Jain.

In *Edgecumbe*, plaintiff's good cause showing rested entirely upon the contention that the defense lawyer "was not available to set deposition dates" during the critical period, and that it "would have been unethical for...[plaintiffs] to notice such depositions without having first worked out available dates with Defendants' counsel". 613 So. 2d at 134. The clear implication of the First District's opinion is that this argument, if it had been true, would have satisfied the good cause standard. But it was not true. The uncontroverted affidavit of the defense lawyer established that

indeed plaintiff's counsel had been given dates for the requested depositions. What is more, although plaintiff's request for the deposition dates "was only two days before the expiration of the one-year period of record inactivity, he [defense counsel] did not file a motion to dismiss until October 23, 1991, thus affording Plaintiff's counsel fifteen days in which to issue notices of depositions." 613 So. 2d at 124. (Emphasis Added). It was this fact that was fatal to plaintiff's argument. As the Court noted "it is clear that Plaintiff's counsel obtained the deposition dates prior to the expiration of the oneyear period and failed to promptly issue notices pursuant to the dates so obtained." Id. at 125. (Emphasis Added). It was the neglect to notice the depositions on dates cleared with defense counsel that undermined the good cause argument, for it could scarcely be concluded that merely asking for deposition dates at the last possible moment and then *doing nothing* to schedule them was the sort of activity calculated to move the case forward to a conclusion.

In Dr. Jain's case, in contrast, plaintiff's counsel acted promptly upon finding LePage: Arnold asked the witness for deposition dates, he was informed that Green Clinic's lawyers would be contacted, and he paused only an interval of hours to hear back from someone before all defense counsel in the case were called to schedule LePage's deposition. In contrast to *Edgecumbe*, Dr. Jain's counsel did not neglect to follow through on noticing the deposition; Dr. Jain's counsel acted vigorously to set

the deposition in motion and to move the case forward to a conclusion. The Second District's opinion does not conflict with *Edgecumbe*. Indeed, *Edgecumbe* is authority for the Second District's conclusion that good cause existed and that the record activity clock continued to run only "because Dr. Jain's lawyer courteously contacted opposing counsel" to "avoid the possibility that an arbitrarily chosen deposition date would later be determined to violate the discovery rules". Panel Op., 830 So. 2d at 838.

Neither does the *Edgecumbe* opinion announce a hard-and-fast rule applicable to Dr. Jain's case. To the contrary, that opinion, like the Second District's opinion in Jain, turned on its own unique facts. *Edgecumbe*, 125. Petitioners nevertheless have extracted from the opinion the notion that "the First District held that conferences with potential witnesses or the exchange of telephone calls between lawyers will not preclude dismissal". Brief, 17. This is a distortion of *Edgecumbe*. The placing of the calls to set the depositions, consistent with accepted professional norms, failed as nonrecord activity only because plaintiff *did nothing to notice them* once defense counsel, also acting consistent with accepted professionalism, supplied the necessary dates.

The First District's subsequent opinion in *Spikes* also addressed a plaintiff's failure, during the critical period, to notice the very deposition which plaintiff's

counsel had called to schedule. In *Spikes*, plaintiff's counsel noticed the case for trial, but then convinced the circuit court to remove the matter from the trial docket so that the plaintiff could attend spring football practice. 792 So. 2d at 572. The case was later settled as to some defendants, but was allowed to languish as to another. The circuit court's ensuing order of dismissal recited that since the last record activity "counsel for the parties had telephone conversations and written correspondence" and also that plaintiff "also alleges that an attempt was made to set a deposition, however, no date was ever agreed upon by the parties". Id. at 573. (Emphasis Added). Commenting on the good cause issue, the First District, citing *Edgecumbe*, declared that "mere contact between opposing counsel, including attempts at setting depositions, is not enough to establish sufficient non record activity". Id. at 573. The Court thus concluded that there was no showing of "affirmative record activity which was reasonably calculated to advance the case toward resolution as contemplated by the rule." Id.

The First District's explanation for its ruling in *Spikes* is somewhat cryptic. But the court does cite *Edgecumbe* and it notes that no date for the deposition "was ever agreed upon by the parties.". *Id.* The fair inference from the opinion is that (a) the parties talked about a deposition but never got around to agreeing to a date to conduct it and (b) plaintiff did nothing to pursue these discussions to a conclusion by issuing

a deposition notice or undertaking other action to force the discovery issue to a resolution. Thus in *Spikes* the "attempt" to take depositions was unavailing as nonrecord activity because it was not thereafter pursued with any appreciable "design to move the case forward". *Hall*, 784 So. 2d at 1090. A plaintiff truly having such a design would brook little delay in obtaining mutually acceptable deposition dates, and would either unilaterally notice the deposition, as Dr. Jain was forced to do, or file a motion to bring the matter to the attention of the Court.

Dr. Jain's case does not fit, and cannot be made to fit, the pattern of *Spikes*. Dr. Jain's lawyers did not simply "attempt" to take LePage's deposition and then allow the case to languish until a motion to dismiss was ultimately filed. They contacted LePage with a set purpose to depose him, they involved LePage in the effort at coordination, they contacted defense counsel to set the deposition out of professional courtesy, and they unilaterally noticed the deposition when no one was willing to return the call. The motion to dismiss reached the clerk's office before the LePage notice only because of this contact, as the Second District noted. Dr. Jain's effort to depose has all the earmarks of a good faith effort to move the case forward to trial or summary judgment, and none of the characteristics of the failed and half-hearted attempts which were fatal to the plaintiffs in *Edgecumbe* and *Spikes*. Petitioners' contention that the Second District opinion is in conflict with these cases is mistaken.

Rather than relying upon a genuine conflict between Jain and *Spikes*, Petitioners have seized upon a single sentence in Spikes to fashion into a categorical rule the statement that "mere contact between opposing counsel, including attempts at setting depositions, is not enough to establish sufficient non record activity". 792 So. 2d at 573. Such a rule makes sense for *Spikes* because the plaintiff at best made only a halfhearted effort to request deposition dates with no followup. It also makes sense for Edgecumbe, cited as authority by Spikes, because plaintiff did nothing to notice the depositions once requested dates were supplied. But it makes no sense in Jain. Dr. Jain did not just sit around and do nothing after asking for deposition dates, as in the above cases; his counsel moved as quickly in setting the LePage deposition as professionalism would have dictated, and in the interim Green Clinic forwarded its motion to the courthouse in anticipation of the LePage deposition notice. In Jain, unlike Spikes, the application of such a categorical rule would work an injustice, and would effectively eviscerate the good cause component of the analysis. Consider the post-Hall "logic" of Petitioners as applied to this case:

In light of *Hall*, the good faith filing of a deposition notice is record activity as a matter of law;

Yet contacting counsel to set such a deposition will never suffice as good cause, for that would merely be an "attempt" to set a deposition, no matter the circumstances;

Therefore, only the filing of a deposition notice will constitute good cause;

Good cause and record activity are thus one and the same; ergo the good cause prong of the Rule 1.420(e) has no meaning where the good cause offered involves an attempt to schedule the deposition of an essential witness.

Such a process of analysis, if adopted by this Court, would improperly equate record activity with good cause for nonrecord activity and would be antithetical to the text of Rule 1.420(e), and even the authority on which Petitioners rely. F.M.C., for example, rejected just such an approach, as did this Court in Hall. And nothing in Spikes or Edgecumbe, read in context, would suggest such a categorical and illogical and case-terminating and unjust rule. The proper standard for the analysis is the one set forth in Hall: Was the nonrecord activity taken in good faith? Was it designed to move the case forward? If so, the activity qualifies as good cause whether or not one chooses to treat it as a "mere attempt" to take a deposition. If the good faith filing of a deposition notice of an important witness is record activity as a matter of law, then the good faith efforts to promptly schedule such a deposition, consistent with

standards of professionalism, is certainly good cause under the *Hall* standard. This is precisely what Dr. Jain did. The Second District's opinion is not in conflict with the cited cases or any of their underlying principles.

Petitioners' proposed categorical rule, in contrast, would not only erode the principles of *Hall* but would be on a collision course with such cases as *Canella*, which recognizes that lawyers have a duty to cooperate with one another in the scheduling of depositions – including the return of calls to schedule depositions. 235 So.2d at 332. Under Petitioners' constricted conception of good cause, the professionalism required in *Canella* would have no application where the record activity clock is about to run or has run, for all that would matter then would be whether plaintiff's deposition notice was received in the clerk's office before defendant's motion. This Court should be loath to adopt such a myopic approach to determining good cause under Rule 1.420(e).

CONCLUSION

The Second District's opinion is not in conflict with any of the cited District Court cases, nor is it inconsistent with *Hall*. The Second District acted appropriately to reinstate a case extinguished on the authority of now-overruled cases and "findings" that did not apply long-standing precedent. Dr. Jain's counsel undertook the necessary measures, consistent with professionalism, to depose an essential witness before

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